Trehalose Metabolism and Stress Resistance in *Aspergillus niger*

Åsa Svanström

Faculty of Natural Resources and Agricultural Sciences Department of Microbiology Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2013 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2013:74

Cover: Scanning electron microscopy image of a developing *A. niger* conidiophore. (photo: J. Dijksterhuis and Å. Svanström)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-7886-7 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-7887-4 © 2013 Åsa Svanström, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2013

Trehalose Metabolism and Stress Resistance in Aspergillus niger

Abstract

Food spoilage by filamentous fungi, moulds, is a global issue of great significance. Mould growth can cause food losses due to deterioration, and adverse health effects due to toxin production. Conidia, asexual spores, are the main factors of dispersal and infection in most food-relevant moulds. They therefore constitute important objects of study when trying to improve food safety. This thesis sought to increase understanding of conidial germination and stress resistance in the common food spoilage mould *Aspergillus niger*, by investigating the inhibitory properties of phenyllactic acid, a lactic acid bacteria metabolite, as well as the role and metabolism of trehalose. This sugar is a major component of spores and well known for its ability to protect proteins and membranes against various kinds of abiotic stress.

A thorough examination in *A. niger* revealed that it contains six genes involved in trehalose synthesis: *tpsA-C* and *tppA-C*. All genes were expressed during conidial germination, and conserved orthologues could be identified in related Aspergilli. However, when creating deletion mutants, only $\Delta tpsA$, $\Delta tppA$ and $\Delta tppB$ had significantly lowered trehalose content. These three genes therefore seem to be most significant for trehalose accumulation. Degradation of internal trehalose is catalysed by trehalase; in *A. niger* this enzyme is encoded by *treB*. Studies of $\Delta tppA$, $\Delta tppB$ and $\Delta treB$ demonstrated that a functional synthesis as well as utilisation of trehalose is crucial for heat stress resistance of *A. niger* conidia. Inability to produce or degrade trehalose also negatively affects the ability of the fungus to generate conidia.

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) have long been used to ferment foods, thereby extending the shelf life. Several LAB metabolites with antifungal properties have been identified, but the underlying mechanisms of inhibition are largely unknown. We have investigated the effect of phenyllactic acid (PLA) on growth and development of single *A. niger* conidia. Results showed that PLA inhibits moulds in a manner similar to that of weak acid preservatives, such as benzoic acid; but it also strongly restricts asexual development at sub-inhibitory concentrations. This effect is not seen by other acids, and therefore indicates a unique mechanism of action for PLA.

Keywords: Ascomycota, *Aspergillus niger*, bio-preservation, conidia germination, heatstress, phenyllactic acid, trehalose.

Author's address: Åsa Svanström, SLU, Department of Microbiology, P.O. Box 7025, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Asa.Svanstrom@ slu.se Till min familj

Contents

| List | t of Publications | | |
|------|-----------------------------------------------------|----|--|
| 1 | Introduction | 9 | |
| 1.1 | Outline and aims | 10 | |
| 2 | The fungal kingdom | 11 | |
| 2.1 | Ascomycota | 12 | |
| 2.2 | Eurotiales | 13 | |
| | 2.2.1 Food spoilage and mycotoxins | 14 | |
| 2.3 | Aspergillus niger | 16 | |
| 3 | Trehalose | 19 | |
| 3.1 | Synthesis | 20 | |
| | 3.1.1 In Aspergillus species | 21 | |
| 3.2 | Mobilisation | 23 | |
| 3.3 | Trehalose functions in fungi | 24 | |
| | 3.3.1 Mechanisms behind protection | 25 | |
| 4 | Fungal spores | 27 | |
| 4.1 | Conidiation | 28 | |
| 4.2 | Maturation of conidia | 30 | |
| 4.3 | Germination | 31 | |
| 5 | Food preservation | 33 | |
| 5.1 | Lactic acid bacteria | 34 | |
| | 5.1.1 Antifungal properties of lactic acid bacteria | 35 | |
| | 5.1.2 Phenyllactic acid | 36 | |
| 6 | Stress | 39 | |
| 6.1 | Stress response | 39 | |
| 6.2 | Protective ability of trehalose in Aspergilli | 40 | |
| 7 | Conclusions and future perspectives | 45 | |
| Refe | 49 | | |
| Ackı | nowledgements | 55 | |

List of Publications

6

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Åsa Svanström and Petter Melin (2013). Intracellular trehalase activity is required for development, germination and heat-stress resistance of *Aspergillus niger* conidia. *Research in Microbiology* 164(2), 91-99.
- II Åsa Svanström, Martin Richard van Leeuwen, Jan Dijksterhuis and Petter Melin. Trehalose synthesis in *Aspergillus niger*: Identification and partial characterisation of six homologous genes, all with conserved orthologues in related species (manuscript).
- III Åsa Svanström, Silvio Boveri, Emma Boström and Petter Melin. The lactic acid bacteria metabolite phenyllactic acid inhibits both radial growth and sporulation of filamentous fungi (manuscript in revision).

Paper I is reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

The contribution of Åsa Svanström to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Took part in planning the study. Performed the majority of the laboratory work. Shared the responsibility for writing the manuscript.
- II Took part in planning the study. Performed the majority of the laboratory work. Shared the responsibility for the initial draft and main writer of substantial parts of the manuscript.
- III Took part in planning the study. Performed the majority of the laboratory work jointly with S. B. Shared the responsibility for writing the manuscript.

1 Introduction

Moulds, filamentous fungi, cause considerable loss of food and feed worldwide. The growth of mould is associated with spoilage and toxin production, which leads to discarding of vast amount of food, or consumption although it is unhealthy. In a world with growing population and where the natural resources are already strained this is a problem of increasing magnitude. (Pitt & Hocking, 2009)

Prevention of mould growth in food and feed include both pre- and postharvest strategies. Examples of pre-harvest measures include choosing crop varieties that are resistant to moulds, crop rotation to break the infectious cycle, minimisation of plant susceptibility by reducing stress (for instance by irrigation or fertilisation) and spraying with fungicides. Post-harvest measures include use of chemical preservatives (for instance sorbic or benzoic acid); optimisation of storage conditions so that they are unfavourable for mould growth; and, use of antagonistic microorganisms such as yeast or lactic acid bacteria (LAB). LAB have been used by humans for a very long time to refine food and make it safer (Kabak et al., 2006). Three aspects of LAB growth contribute to the reduction of spoilage organisms: competition for nutrients, decreased pH, and production of inhibitory metabolites (Dalie et al., 2010). One such inhibitory metabolite is phenyllactic acid (PLA), which has been shown to have anti-fungal properties (Lavermicocca et al., 2000). I have studied the potential of PLA as a food protectant and the factors that contribute to the protective capacity of this metabolite.

The asexual spore is the main mechanism of dispersal in many food spoilage fungi, and, therefore, plays a key role in food contamination and spoilage. Increased knowledge of fungal germination is, thus, an essential part in the efforts to make preservation and storage of food more efficient and to minimise mould damage. (Osherov & May, 2001)

To increase the understanding of fungal spores in different food contexts, I have studied the disaccharide trehalose. This sugar constitutes a substantial part of the dry weight of fungal spores, but is also found in several other fungal structures. During germination of spores, it is rapidly broken down, indicating its importance as an energy reserve. However, it has also been shown that trehalose has a more complex role, being important for spore survival in different situations. (Elbein *et al.*, 2003) The importance of this metabolite makes it worth studying, and furthermore, it might be useful as an antifungal target. For instance, in the human pathogen *Aspergillus fumigatus*, trehalose and trehalose metabolism are hypothesised as possible drug targets (Puttikamonkul *et al.*, 2010).

As a model organism for this thesis, *Aspergillus niger* was chosen. This commonly occurring food spoilage mould produces an abundance of spores that are spread by air. However, it is mainly a spoilage organism without serious side effects. The growth requirements are modest and the complete genome sequence has been published. (Pitt & Hocking, 2009; Pel *et al.*, 2007) All this combined makes *A. niger* a useful and convenient object of practical study in the laboratory.

1.1 Outline and aims

This thesis begins with a general background to the fungal kingdom followed by chapters on trehalose, fungal spores, food preservation and stress response in fungi. In these chapters, the general concepts as well as the specific results of this study are discussed. The aims of this work were to:

- Investigate trehalose metabolism in A. niger during conidial maturation and germination (Papers 1 and 2).
- Thoroughly elucidate the significance of specific genes and gene products in *A. niger* trehalose metabolism: catabolism (Paper 1) and synthesis (Paper 2).
- Evaluate the importance of a functional trehalose metabolism in different food relevant situations and as a stress protectant in *A. niger* (Paper 1 and 2).
- Study the ability of conidia to germinate in different stress conditions (Papers 1, 2 and 3)
- Investigate the inhibitory properties of phenyllactic acid in fungi, to determine the MIC levels and to study the mode of function (Paper 3).
- Examine how stress from PLA affects the expression of a few relevant genes in A. niger (Paper 3).



2 The fungal kingdom

Fungi make up one of the major domains of eukaryotic organisms. Members of the fungal kingdom are highly diverse in terms of morphology, physiology, reproduction and ecology. Fungi are heterotrophic: they cannot fix carbon, and instead require organic carbon for their growth. In nature, they perform fundamental roles as carbon cycling organisms by decomposing organic matter. The downside for humans is that they are prevalent in food decay and degradation of building materials, for instance. Additional survival strategies of fungi include living in symbiosis with other organisms (mycorrhiza with vascular plants, and lichens with algae, for instance) and living as plant, animal or human pathogens. Humans have long utilised fungi for fermentation of food such as bread, soy sauce, wine and cheese, and more recently, for production of antibiotics and enzymes, and as model organisms for genetics and molecular biology. (Taylor *et al.*, 2004)

Although mycology (the study of fungi) is often considered a branch of botany, fungi are phylogenetically closer related to animals than to plants (Lutzoni *et al.*, 2004). Besides the difference that fungi are heterotrophic and plants are autotrophic, one important difference is the composition of the cell wall, which in fungi consists of chitin, and in plants, cellulose (Taylor *et al.*, 2004).

The fungal kingdom is estimated to comprise up to 1.5 million species, although the exact number is unknown. Traditionally, at least five phyla have been recognised within the Fungi; Chytridiomycota, Zygomycota, Glomeromycota, Ascomycota and Basidiomycota. However, recent phylogenetic studies have partially overthrown these distinctions, and the relationships are under debate (Medina et al., 2011; Lutzoni et al., 2004). In addition to the so-called true fungi, several other groups of organisms are sometimes referred to as "fungal", e.g. Oomycota and Myxomycota, and have traditionally been studied by mycologists, although the organisms are not

closely related. Within the fungal kingdom, the Basidiomycota and the Ascomycota are monophyletic (they have one common ancestor) and they constitute an informal group, the dikaryomycetes. (Taylor *et al.*, 2004)

2.1 Ascomycota

The Ascomycota, comprising approximately 64000 described species, is the largest phylum in the fungal kingdom. Its members make up about 65 % of all known fungi. Of fungi that form lichens (with algae or cyano-bacteria), approximately 98 % are ascomycetes. The Ascomycota is a highly diverse phylum with species occurring in very varying niches and practically all ecosystems. (Schoch *et al.*, 2009; Taylor *et al.*, 2004)

Members in the Ascomycota employ two major growth forms: filamentous in the form of hyphae, or, as yeast. Filamentous species are multicellular and grow apically. The hyphae are compartmentalised by septa which are usually porated, allowing cytoplasmic transport between the different compartments. Yeasts are unicellular, mainly grow isotropically and multiply by budding or fission. There is no distinct phylogenetic relationship between the species growing in filamentous or yeast forms; on the contrary, many species in the Ascomycota are dimorphic with different growth forms in different life stages. (Crous *et al.*, 2009)

The Ascomycota includes many species with great impact for humans, both useful and economically important fungi, as well as species with negative effects, such as pathogens and/or toxin producers. Examples include: *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, the yeast used for fermentation of wine and beer and leavening of bread; *Penicillium chrysogenum*, utilised for production of the antibiotic penicillin; *Candida albicans*, that causes diaper rash and vaginitis; and *Magnaporthe oryzae*, the rice blast fungus. (Taylor *et al.*, 2004)

Ascomycetes are defined as fungi that produce sexual spores, ascospores, in sac-like structures called asci (singular: ascus). They are therefore also called sac fungi. The asci of filamentous fungi are normally borne within a larger structure called an ascocarp or ascoma (plural: ascomata). The normally haploid hypha develops into a sexual reproduction structure by mating and becomes diploid by nuclear fusion. In some species, this can occur when only one specimen is involved, i.e. they are self-fertile (homothallic); other species are self-sterile (heterothallic), needing a partner with opposite mating type for sexual reproduction. In the ascus, the diploid nuclei undergo meiosis, producing haploid ascospores. The ascospores are commonly thick-walled and often resistant to heat, pressure and chemicals. (Crous *et al.*, 2009)

The typical member of the Ascomycota is able to reproduce both sexually, as described above, and asexually, producing asexual spores named conidia. However, a large proportion of the Ascomycota has no described sexual stage, reproducing entirely asexually. (Schoch *et al.*, 2009) For information on asexual reproduction see chapter 4 – Fungal spores.

2.2 Eurotiales

The Eurotiales are an order of Ascomycetes, within the class Eurotiomycetes, containing several well-known and commonly occurring fungi. Members of Eurotiales are characterised by thin-walled asci containing unicellular, often ornamented, ascospores. (Samson *et al.*, 2004)

Most Eurotiales are saprotrophic, excreting a large diversity of enzymes in order to break down proteins, lipids and carbohydrates. This makes them common causes of food spoilage, but it also allows us to utilise them industrially to produce enzymes and other metabolites. Other aspects of these fungi are their importance for research, being easily manipulated in the laboratory; they have been research tools for many years. (Geiser *et al.*, 2006)

Aspergillus and *Penicillium* are the most notable and well-studied genera within the Eurotiales. The two genera are closely related, both belonging to the Trichocomaceae family. They are both phialidic, i.e. the asexual spores are formed by specialised structures known as phialides. (Pitt & Hocking, 2009; Geiser *et al.*, 2006)

Both *Aspergillus* and *Penicillium* are among the dominant fungi worldwide, occupying a large variety of niches and being able to utilise diverse nutrient sources. *Aspergillus* as a genus is considered to be more tolerant of varied abiotic conditions, than *Penicillium*, being able to grow at low water activity and over a range of temperatures. (Krijgsheld *et al.*, 2013; Pitt & Hocking, 2009)

Aspergillus and Penicillium are the names traditionally given to the asexual (i.e. anamorphic) stage of the fungal life cycle. Most species in these genera only exist in this form, however, others also have a sexual (teleomorphic) stage. In those cases, two names have been in use, one for the sexual stage of the fungus and another for the asexual. For *Aspergillus*, the teleomorphic genera include *Eurotium, Neosartorya* and *Emericella*, and for *Penicillium Eupenicillium* and *Talaromyces*. (Samson *et al.*, 2004) However, the International Code of Botanical Nomenclature (that governs fungal nomenclature) recently agreed on the "one fungus: one name" principle. This initiated the work on a new classification system, in which only one name will



be used for all stages of a fungus, a process that is still ongoing. (Hawksworth, 2011; Houbraken & Samson, 2011)

2.2.1 Food spoilage and mycotoxins

Since the purpose of food and feed is mainly to be nutritious (in contrast to natural, nutrient-poor, systems, e.g. water and soil), they constitute a very rich habitat for microorganisms. The saprotrophic nature of many Eurotiales fungi, by which they can secrete vast amounts of enzymes that break down many types of macromolecules, makes them well equipped to live on all kinds of food. Combined with their ability to produce toxic metabolites, this contributes to their importance as food spoilage organisms. (Pitt & Hocking, 2009; Geiser et al., 2006) Fungal spoilage is of great concern because of economical losses, shortage of food supply and adverse effects on human and animal health, especially in tropical and subtropical regions of the world. However, the magnitude of the problem is difficult to evaluate, as fluctuations, depending on food commodity, location, and climate, are large. It has been estimated that 25 % of all agricultural products are contaminated with mycotoxins, and economical losses due to fungal food spoilage in Australia are annually more than \$10 million dollar. (Dagnas & Membre, 2013; Dantigny et al., 2005) Aspergillus and Penicillium species are among the most important agents of food spoilage worldwide. Generally, one can say that Aspergillus species dominate food spoilage in tropical regions, whereas Penicillium species are more widespread in temperate regions. (Pitt & Hocking, 2009)

Examples of foods with which fungi are commonly associated include fruits, vegetables, cereal grains, bread, dairy products and fermented products (Dagnas & Membre, 2013; Filtenborg *et al.*, 1996). Although some species of fungi are generalists and grow on many kinds of foods, it is common that only a small number of species can be found on a certain foodstuff. For example, spoilage of citrus fruits is strongly associated with *Penicillium digitatum* and *P. italicum*, whereas moulds growing on rice and peanuts are frequently identified as *Aspergillus flavus* or *A. niger*. (Frisvad *et al.*, 2007a)

Mould growth in food leads to quality loss such as off-smells and off-flavours, discoloration, visible mould growth, and loss of structure and texture. This is generally not dangerous, but will lead to rejection of the food by the consumer. A problem of greater magnitude is the potential production of mycotoxins during mould growth, which makes the food unhealthy. (Dagnas & Membre, 2013; Filtenborg *et al.*, 1996)

Mycotoxins are substances produced by fungi during secondary metabolism (i.e. they are chemicals that are not directly essential for growth). They are highly toxic to vertebrate animals when indigested, inhaled or absorbed through the skin. (Frisvad *et al.*, 2007b) As for most other so-called secondary metabolites, production of mycotoxins is often linked to phases of fungal development, and more specifically, to sporulation. The reasons that fungi produce these metabolites are not fully elucidated and are complex; some substances directly stimulate spore-formation, others are believed to work as virulence factors or enhance the competitiveness of the fungal strain. (Calvo *et al.*, 2002)

Most mycotoxins are secreted by the mould, and in foodstuff with high water content, they rapidly diffuse and contaminate the whole product. Mycotoxins are generally very resistant to different chemical and physical treatments, meaning that once they are present in the food, they typically persist. (Filtenborg *et al.*, 1996) Today, more than 400 mycotoxins are known, of which only a small number are toxicologically well-described. The known toxic effects of mycotoxins are diverse, the most pronounced being immune suppression and carcinogenicity, but also, for example, liver, kidney and reproduction toxicity. (Creppy, 2002; Filtenborg *et al.*, 1996)

Several species of *Aspergillus* and *Penicillium* are well-known producers of mycotoxins. Some examples include: aflatoxin, the most potent naturally occurring carcinogen know, produced mainly by *A. flavus* but also by *A. parasiticus* and *A. nomius* among others; the nephrotoxin citrinin, produced by *P. verrucosum*, *P. expansum* and *P. citrinum*; and, ochratoxin A, which is a nephrotoxin and suspected genotoxin, produced by both *P. verrucosum* and *A. ochraceus* and closely related species, along with a few *A. niger* strains and related species such as *A. carbonarius*. (Frisvad *et al.*, 2007b; Creppy, 2002)

2.3 Aspergillus niger

In this thesis work A. niger has served as the model organism.

As indicated by its name, *A. niger* is distinguished by the dark coloured conidia, asexual spores, that give the colonies their black to brown-black colour seen in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Morphology of *A. niger:* two weeks old colonies growing on minimal media (left) and microscopic picture of a conidiophore, the structure producing asexual spores (right).

A. niger is closely related to many other Aspergilli, some of which are impossible to distinguish from one another by morphology: these make up the so-called "*A. niger* species complex". Examples of species included in the complex are *A. brasiliensis*, *A. piperis*, *A. tubingensis* and *A. vadensis*. (Geiser *et al.*, 2007; Pitt and Hocking 2009)

A. niger has a worldwide distribution and can grow under a wide range of abiotic conditions and on a large diversity of substrates. Growth temperatures range between 8-45°C, with optimum at 35°C. It is xerotolerant with reported growth at $a_w^{10,77}$, and also tolerant of low pH, being able to grow at pH 2.0. *A. niger* is a common food contaminant and more prevalent in warmer climates. It is often isolated from fresh fruits and vegetables, sun-dried products, nuts, meats and cheese. It is mostly regarded as a spoilage organism, however, some strains can produce ochratoxin A under various conditions. (Pitt & Hocking, 2009)

^{1.} Water activity: a measure of how efficiently the water present can take part in a chemical or physical reaction. Pure distilled water has the activity 1. (Adams & Moss, 2000a)



Although *A. niger* has been known to cause pulmonary aspergillosis in immune-suppressed patients, it is generally considered as a non-pathogenic fungus (Schuster *et al.*, 2002).

Besides being a spoilage organism, *A. niger* is widely used in industry. The most important fermentation product from *A. niger* is the organic acid, citric acid, with applications in foods, pharmaceuticals, cosmetics, etc. Other products include gluconic acid and enzymes such as pectinase, protease and amyloglucosidase. (Abarca *et al.*, 2004; Schuster *et al.*, 2002) *A. niger* is among the best studied fungal species; many molecular tools exist (Schuster *et al.*, 2002), and in 2007, the first complete genome (strain CBS 513.88) was sequenced and annotated (Pel *et al.*, 2007).

The *A. niger* wild-type used in the experiments of this thesis was a strain with short conidiophore stipes (*cspA1*) called N402 (Bos *et al.*, 1988).

3 Trehalose

Trehalose is a non-reducing disaccharide consisting of two glucose molecules joined by α, α -1,1-glycosidic linkages (see Figure 2). This sugar is widespread in nature and has been isolated from certain species of bacteria, plants, fungi and insects, but it does not occur in vertebrate animals. (Elbein *et al.*, 2003) Typically the levels of trehalose in these organisms are relatively low, but in various kinds of survival structures, such as insect eggs and fungal ascospores, the sugar is accumulated and can constitute as much as 10 % of cell dry weight. In so called anhydrobiotic organisms (that are able to survive long periods completely dehydrated), trehalose is commonly synthesised and accumulated. (Iturriaga *et al.*, 2009; Elbein *et al.*, 2003)



Figure 2. Structure of α, α -trehalose.

Trehalose was probably first discovered in 1832, when it was isolated from sclerotia of rye by Wiggers, who named the substance "mycose" (Iturriaga *et al.*, 2009; Wiemken, 1990). Since trehalose is rapidly degraded when resting structures goes into vegetative growth, early studies concluded that the main function of the sugar is as reserve carbohydrate for energy storage (Elbein, 1974). However, later studies have contributed to a drastically increased understanding of the diverse roles that trehalose plays in nature. These roles include regulation of carbon metabolism, and as a protectant against abiotic stress. (Elbein *et al.*, 2003)

Besides its wide distribution in nature, trehalose is also utilised in a range of biotechnical applications. Examples include as a stabiliser during dehydration and freezing, and as an additive in cosmetics. (Iturriaga *et al.*, 2009)

3.1 Synthesis

Trehalose is synthesised in several kinds of fungal structures, but particularly in spores, yeast cells going into stationary phase, and as a response to stress (Uyar *et al.*, 2010; Elbein *et al.*, 2003; Fillinger *et al.*, 2001; Crowe *et al.*, 1992)

There are five known synthesis pathways for trehalose. The one discovered first is also the most widely distributed, and it is the dominant pathway in fungi. It involves two enzymatic steps catalysed by trehalose-6-phosphate-syntahase (TPS) and trehalose-phosphate-phosphatase (TPP). The first intermediate in the reaction, trehalose-6-phosphate (T6P), is formed by the transfer of glucose from one UDP-glucose molecule to one glucose-6-phosphate, catalysed by TPS. In the next step, TPP catalyses the hydrolysis of the phosphate molecule, and trehalose is formed. An overview of the reaction can be seen in Figure 3. (Puttikamonkul *et al.*, 2010; Iturriaga *et al.*, 2009; Avonce *et al.*, 2006)



Figure 3. The most commonly occurring trehalose synthesis pathway in fungi, degradation and utilisation of trehalose is also indicated. Based on (Fillinger *et al.*, 2001)

A second synthesis pathway for trehalose in fungi has been hypothesised; trehalose phosphorylase (TreP or TP) catalyses the reaction where one glucose and one glucose-1-phosphate molecule form trehalose and inorganic phosphor. The gene encoding this protein has been found in several organisms, including

yeasts and the filamentous fungi *A. fumigatus* and *N. crassa*, but the biosynthetic reaction has only been shown *in vitro*. (Puttikamonkul *et al.*, 2010; Avonce *et al.*, 2006; Shinohara *et al.*, 2002)

Putative TPS/TPP pathway genes have been identified and more or less extensively characterised in several fungal species; an overview of orthologue and paralogue names can be seen in Table 1.

Table 1. Orthologue and paralogue names of TPS/TPP synthesising genes in a selection of fungi. Dash indicates non-described genes.

| Species | TPS | TPP | Reference |
|--------------------|--------|--------|---------------------------------------------------------------------------|
| A. niger | tpsA-C | tppA-C | Paper II; Wolschek & Kubicek, 1997 |
| A. nidulans | tpsA | orlA | Fillinger et al., 2001; Borgia et al., 1996 |
| A. fumigatus | tpsA-D | orlA | Al-Bader et al., 2010; Puttikamonkul et al., 2010) |
| Botrytis cinerea | tps1 | - | Doehlemann et al., 2006 |
| Magnaporthe oryzae | tps1 | - | Fernandez & Wilson, 2011 |
| Candida albicans | tps1 | tps2 | Martinez-Esparza <i>et al.</i> , 2009; Alvarez-Peral <i>et al.</i> , 2002 |
| S. cerevisiae | tps1 | tps2 | Gancedo & Flores, 2004 |

In the yeast *S. cerevisiae*, the gene products for trehalose synthesis are clustered in a "trehalose synthase complex". The TPS and TPP encoding genes (tps1 and tps2 respectively) are coupled with two regulatory subunits encoded by ts11 and tps3. (Gancedo & Flores, 2004; Bell *et al.*, 1998; Reinders *et al.*, 1997) The TPS encoding gene, tps1, has a unique function as deletion of this gene totally abolishes the trehalose content, unlike deletion of any of the other genes. Deletion mutants of only one of the regulatory genes, tps3 or ts11, have wild type levels of trehalose, whereas deletion of tps2 as well as double deletions of tps2, tps3 or ts11 yield *ca* 30 % of the trehalose content. (Bell *et al.*, 1998)

3.1.1 In Aspergillus species

In *A. niger* there are six gene homologues to the enzymes of the trehalose complex in *S. cerevisiae*. Three of these are *tps1* orthologues: *tpsA*, *tpsB* and *tpsC*; and three are putative *tps2* orthologues: *tppA*, *tppB* and *tppC*. At least four of the six encoded proteins appear to interact and form a complex (TppA and TpsA-C) whereas TppB and TppC exist outside the complex. However, due to limitations of the experimental assay, these results are not entirely unambiguous, and it is possible that all gene-products are part of a complex. (**Paper II**)

Analysis of single gene deletion mutants of the six genes revealed that, under habitual conditions, tpsA, tppA and tppB had the greatest impact on trehalose levels. These deletions lowered the trehalose content by 50 to 70 %, whereas deletion of the other genes did not affect trehalose significantly. (**Paper II**) According to Wolschek and Kubicek (1997) who investigated *A. niger tpsA* and *tpsB*, the first only functions in normal temperatures and the latter has a heat induced activity. This, and other types of regulated activates, might explain why the trehalose levels were not decreased in some of the deletion mutants in Paper II.

Unlike $\Delta tpsA$ and $\Delta tppB$, which had wild type morphology, the phenotype of $\Delta tppA$ was severely affected. It displayed a drastic reduction in conidial formation, defective conidiophores, and trehalose-6-phosphate was accumulated in the mycelium. This clearly indicates that tppA encodes a T6P-phosphatase. (**Paper II**).

Among the Aspergilli, two other species have been studied with regard to trehalose synthesis.

In *A. nidulans*, one TPS encoding gene is denoted *tpsA*. A null mutant of this gene was depleted of both T6P and trehalose, and trehalose was not accumulated in response to stress. Therefore, *tpsA* seems to be a unique T6PS-encoding gene in *A. nidulans*, and this gene is indispensible for trehalose production. (Fillinger *et al.*, 2001) Disruptants of the TPP encoding gene of *A. nidulans*, orlA, contained wild type levels of trehalose and also accumulated the sugar in response to stress. On the other hand, levels of T6P were elevated in the disruptants. It therefore seems clear that *orlA* does encode a T6P-phosphatase, but that function can be partially replaced by other genes. (Borgia *et al.*, 1996)

In *A. fumigatus*, four TPS homologues have been identified and characterised, tpsA - D. Of these, tpsC and tpsD seems to be inactive copies with continuatively low gene expressions. On the other hand, either tpsA or tpsB was required for normal trehalose levels, as deletion of one of them did not alter the trehalose content, whereas it was abolished in a double mutant ($\Delta tpsA \Delta tpsB$). (Al-Bader *et al.*, 2010) The TPP encoding gene of *A. fumigatus*, also denoted *orlA*, seems to have a similar function to the *orlA* gene of *A. nidulans*, as the trehalose levels of the deletion mutant were comparable with the wild type, but T6P was accumulated. A hypothesised explanation for the maintained trehalose value is that *A. fumigatus* can synthesise trehalose via the TP pathway (mentioned above), and two putative TP genes have been identified. (Puttikamonkul *et al.*, 2010)

Comparison of *A. niger* Tpp and Tps amino acid sequence with other published *Aspergillus* genomes showed that there are several, previously unidentified, homologues of the described genes among the Aspergilli, these are summarised in Table 2. (**Paper II**)



| Subgenus | Section | Species | Tps | Трр |
|------------|------------|-----------------|------------------|---------|
| NIDULANTES | Nidulantes | A. nidulans | A, D | A, B |
| | | A. versicolor | A, D | A, B |
| | | A. sydowi | A, D1, D2, D3, E | A, B |
| FUMIGATI | Fumigati | A. fumigatus | A, B, C, D | A, B, C |
| | | N. fischeri | A, B, C, D | A, B, C |
| | Clavati | A. clavatus | A, B, C, D | A, B, C |
| CIRCUMDATI | Flavi | A. flavus | A, B, C | A, B, C |
| | | A. oryzae | A, B, C | A, B, C |
| | Nigri | A. acidus | A, B, C | A, B, C |
| | | A. aculeatus | A, B, C | A, B, C |
| | | A. brasiliensis | С | A, B, C |
| | | A. carbonarius | A, B, C | A, B, C |
| | | A. kawachii | A, B, C | A, B, C |
| | | A. niger | A, B, C | A, B, C |
| TERREI | Terrei | A. terreus | A, B | A, B |

Table 2. Presence of different Tps and Tpp orthologues in Aspergilli

The fact that trehalose synthesis genes exist in multiple copies suggests that this pathway is of considerable importance for *Aspergillus* species. However, homologues of *tppA*, *tppB* and *tpsA* seem to have a unique position among these copies, as they are both conserved among all investigated Aspergilli (accept in *A. brasiliensis* which lack *tpsA*), and seem to have a greater impact on trehalose levels than other genes. Given that the trehalose levels in the *orlA* mutants of *A. nidulans* and *A. fumigatus* were maintained, it seems likely that TppB can partially replace the function of TppA.

3.2 Mobilisation

Two enzymes are known to catabolise trehalose: acid- and neutral trehalase, named because of their respective pH-optima. Acid trehalase is a secretory enzyme that breaks down external trehalose which serves as a carbon source; in fungi this enzyme is located in the cell wall. Internal trehalose is catabolised by the cytoplasmic enzyme neutral trehalase. In the reaction, one trehalose molecule is hydrolysed to two glucose molecules, see Figure 3. (d'Enfert *et al.*, 1999)

Turnover of internal trehalose is catalysed by neutral trehalase, and is triggered either when the sugar is no longer needed, i.e. when the stress condition under which trehalose was accumulated is lifted, or, upon induction,

such as germination of fungal spores or flight of insects, during which trehalose is used to provide energy. (Iturriaga *et al.*, 2009; Elbein *et al.*, 2003)

In *A. nidulans* and *A. niger*, neutral trehalase is synthesised by a gene denoted *treB* (Pel *et al.*, 2007; d'Enfert *et al.*, 1999). Deletion of the *A. niger treB* resulted in a strain that was unable to degrade internal trehalose during conidial germination and whose mycelium contained significantly more trehalose than wild type, supporting the importance of *treB* both after induction of germination and during vegetative growth (**Paper I**).

3.3 Trehalose functions in fungi

Trehalose and trehalose metabolism are vital to a range of cellular functions, besides serving as an energy source. Mutants in the various steps of trehalose metabolism are highly pleiotropic, displaying a range of phenotypic deviations. (Gancedo & Flores, 2004; Elbein *et al.*, 2003) In *A. niger*, trehalose and trehalose metabolism affect sporogenesis, conidial viability, and thermal stability (**Papers I** and **II**); this will be discussed further in later chapters. Additional traits of trehalose metabolism in Aspergilli include influence on virulence and cell wall biosynthesis (Al-Bader *et al.*, 2010; Puttikamonkul *et al.*, 2010; Fillinger *et al.*, 2001).

An aspect of trehalose synthesis that has received increasing attention in recent years is the role it plays in sugar sensing and growth regulation. Trehalose-6-phosphate has been shown to regulate glucose metabolism in yeasts as well as plants. One explanatory model for this is that T6P inhibits the enzyme hexokinase and subsequently glucose is blocked from glycolysis (see Figure 3). (Gancedo & Flores, 2004) In the rice blast fungus *Magnaporthe grisea (oryzae)*, it has been shown that T6P-synthase is vital for both sugar metabolism and utilisation of nitrogen, as the enzyme regulates both gene expression and enzyme activities in these metabolic pathways (Wilson *et al.*, 2007).

The ability of trehalose to protect living cells against a variety of abiotic stresses has been demonstrated in several fungal species. For example, protective effects have been shown in conidia of *B. cinerea* and *A. nidulans* against heat (Doehlemann *et al.*, 2006; Fillinger *et al.*, 2001), blastoconidia of *C. albicans* against oxidative shock (Alvarez-Peral *et al.*, 2002), cells of *S. cerevisiae* against osmotic stress and heat (Hounsa *et al.*, 1998; Hottiger *et al.*, 1994), cells of *Cryptococcus laurentii* against low temperature (Li & Tian, 2006) and conidia of *A. fumigatus* against heat and oxidative shock (Al-Bader *et al.*, 2010).

3.3.1 Mechanisms behind protection

The bio-protective ability of trehalose mainly acts at two levels: the sugar protects lipid membranes at low water content so that they do not fuse or go into lipid phase transition; and, it stabilises proteins under conditions where the secondary structure would normally denature (Lins *et al.*, 2004; Crowe *et al.*, 1992).

The mechanisms behind the protective ability of trehalose are not fully elucidated, but three main hypotheses have been put forward:

- 1. The water replacement theory during drying, water molecules are substituted by trehalose that form hydrogen bonds with the phospholipids of the membrane or the protein, thereby stabilising their native structure.
- 2. The mechanical entrapment theory trehalose readily forms a glass, a biostructure described as an amorphous solid with extremely high viscosity; when this matrix surrounds a bio-molecule, the conformation is retained.
- The preferential exclusion theory trehalose orders residual water molecules, thereby separating them from the bio-molecule, which then becomes more compact and therefore stabilised.

These theories are not necessarily mutually exclusive, but may all contribute to the observed effects of trehalose. (Jain & Roy, 2009; Lins *et al.*, 2004; Pereira *et al.*, 2004) It has been suggested that a prerequisite for the protective abilities of trehalose can be found in its extraordinary chemical and physical properties. However, the truth is that no such properties exist; it is more likely that all the properties of trehalose combined give rise to the superiority of this disaccharide as a stress protectant. (Jain & Roy, 2009; Crowe *et al.*, 2001)

4 Fungal spores

Fungi, like other organisms such as mosses, ferns and some bacteria, form spores to provide means of dispersal and to guarantee survival in times of unfavourable environmental conditions. The spore is a self-contained receptacle of genetic material that can develop in to a new colony when the circumstances are favourable. Within the fungal kingdom, Zygomycota, Basidiomycota and Ascomycota form both sexual spores – zygospores, basidiospores and ascospores, respectively – and asexual spores, called sporangispores in Zygomycota and conidia in Basidiomycota and Ascomycota. (Osherov & May, 2001)

Different kinds of spores often fulfil different purposes. In Ascomycota, for instance, the conidia are often produced in abundance and on aerial structures that facilitate distribution and spreading, whereas the ascospores are produced in lower numbers within the mycelium, and often have a higher survival capability as well as increased genetic diversity, which probably enhances survival in unstable environments. Many fungi are able to produce both sexual and asexual spores in the same colony (Chitarra & Dijksterhuis, 2007; Hoekstra, 2005).

The vast amounts of conidia produced by many species of Ascomycetes are commonly spread by air currents. When environmental conditions change, rapid dispersal is important for survival of the fungus. Therefore, the production of conidia (conidiation) is a swift process that involves relatively simple cellular transformations. (Ugalde & Corrochano, 2007) In *A. nidulans*, for instance, the time span between induction of conidiation to the first mature conidia is approximately 6-8 hours (Adams *et al.*, 1998). The circumstances that induce spore production differ between fungal species. Within the Ascomycota, exposure of hyphae to the air is often enough in *Penicillium* and *Aspergillus* species, whereas *Neurospora* species undergo conidiation as a

response to environmental induction such as carbon or nitrogen deficiency. (Ugalde & Corrochano, 2007; Roncal & Ugalde, 2003; Adams *et al.*, 1998)

4.1 Conidiation

Production of conidia generally occurs in the aerial hyphae that are no longer growing vegetatively, that is to say behind the growing edge of the colony. The older conidia will therefore be found in the centre of the fungal colony, and the younger, closest to the edge. (Krijgsheld *et al.*, 2013)

Conidiation in Aspergillus includes several well-defined morphological phases. After a certain period of vegetative growth, and if the colony is airexposed, two kinds of aerial hyphal branches are formed in the centre of the colony. One type is similar to vegetative hyphae, whereas the other type can differentiate into conidiophore stalks by apical extension. The stalks have roughly twice the diameter of normal aerial hyphae, and, in contrast to these, they rarely branch, and emerge from a foot cell. This is a specialised, thickwalled structure, which lies at the same level as the substrate, thereby connecting the stalk to it. When apical growth of the stalk ceases, the top begins to swell, forming a spherical structure called the conidiophore vesicle. The foot cell, stalk and vesicle form a single unit (the conidiophore), since there are no septa in the structure. In so called biseriate species of *Aspergillus*, multiple nuclear divisions in the vesicle give rise to budding of metulae, elongated cells with one nucleus each. Division of this nucleus and further budding subsequently produce uninucleated phialides at the top of the metulae. The phialides are specialised reproductive cells producing daughter cells (conidia) by mitosis. The conidia are predominately uninucleate and formed in chains where each new one is produced closest to the phialide, pushing the chain upwards. In uniseriate species, the phialides are formed directly on the conidiophore vesicle, with no layer of metulae beneath. (Krijgsheld et al., 2013; Adams et al., 1998) An overview of asexual reproduction of Aspergillus can be seen in Figure 4.

The events that lead to conidiation in the closely related genus *Penicillium* are similar to those in *Aspergillus*, but with a few differences. The stalk is formed from aerial hyphae but does not emerge from a foot cell, and the conidiophore of *Penicillium* species is septated. No vesicle is formed; instead, the conidiophores may be branched in one or two steps (ter- or quaterverticillate) or bear the phialides directly on the stalk (monoverticillate). (Ugalde & Corrochano, 2007; Roncal & Ugalde, 2003)

The genetic regulation of conidiation in Aspergilli is complex and involves a vast number of genes and gene products; in colonies of *A. nidulans*, 1300

genes were found to be up-regulated during asexual development. A few examples of the many genes that have been studied and found to be of importance for conidiation include: fluG, which initiates asexual development; brlA, which regulates formation of conidiophores; and wetA, which is involved in conidial cell wall formation. (Krijgsheld *et al.*, 2013)

Genes in trehalose metabolism affect spore formation in *A. niger*. Deletion strains of *tppA* and *treB* produced 500 and 20-fold fewer conidia than the wild type, respectively (**Papers I** and **II**).

The morphology of $\Delta tppA$ was severely affected; the almost abolished conidial production was apparently due to malformation of the conidiophores. In contrast to $\Delta tppA$, other deletion strains of *A. niger* ($\Delta tpsA$ and $\Delta tppB$) displayed wild-type morphology in combination with lowered trehalose contents. This suggests that it is not the ability to produce trehalose, *per se*, which is important for conidiogenesis; rather, it is the accumulation of T6P that inhibits spore formation. (**Paper II**)

In the case of $\Delta treB$, the morphology of the conidiophores was unaffected, but decreased conidiation was accompanied by abnormal shape and size of the few produced, as well as reduced viability. This indicates that intracellular trehalase activity is crucial both for formation and function of conidia, but not for formation of conidiogenic structures. (**Paper I**)



Figure 4. Asexual life-cycle of a typical Aspergillus species.

4.2 Maturation of conidia

Newly formed conidia display differences compared to older conidia, indicating that the maturation process is not completed during conidiation, but continues after release from the phialide. A. niger conidia harvested from 5 day old cultures exhibited higher sensitivity to heat stress compared to conidia from 14 days old cultures. However, the reproducibility of these results was very low, suggesting that the maturation process is irregular. After 14 days, the responses to heat stress had evened out and were reproducible. (Unpublished observation, Svanström and Melin) Moreover, conidia are not, as previously believed, completely dormant structures. (Aguilar-Osorio et al., 2010) identified genes in the mannitol metabolism of A. niger that were exclusively expressed in dormant conidia, and we demonstrated that all identified trehalose synthesis genes of A. niger are expressed in dormant conidia as well as after induction of germination (Paper II). In A. nidulans, vosA has been shown to regulate the expression of trehalose synthesis genes and thereby affect conidial maturation. Conidia of a $\Delta vosA$ mutant were depleted of trehalose and they displayed rapidly decreasing viability. (Ni & Yu, 2007) Accordingly, conidia of an A. niger vosA deletion mutant contained approximately 10 % of the wild type level of trehalose (Unpublished observation, Svanström and Melin)

With regard to trehalose, *A. niger* conidia appear to become fully matured sometime in the time span 5 to 14 days. In 5 day old conidia, trehalose comprised approximately 2 % of the dry weight; after 14 days, this had increased to 5 %, a level which was then maintained during continued aging as can be seen in Figure 5. (**Paper II**)



Figure 5. Trehalose content of wild-type A. niger conidia during aging.

4.3 Germination

To fulfil their purpose, it is important that fungal spores germinate only after they have been dispersed and only if the surrounding environment is favourable. Spores therefore have effective mechanisms to maintain dormancy. (Krijgsheld *et al.*, 2013)

Consequently, to break dormancy, the first stage of spore germination is activation. This is triggered by environmental factors that differ widely between species and genera. For some fungi, access to water, oxygen and carbon dioxide is sufficient. Others require nutrients such as an external carbon source and amino acids, and still others need a specific surface to germinate. (Osherov & May, 2001; d'Enfert, 1997)

When the requirements for activation are fulfilled, the spore starts isotropic growth, a stage called swelling. The surface properties of the spore change, increasing the capacity for adhesion to other spores and to the substrate. The spore takes up water, and metabolic activities, such as respiration and synthesis of RNA and proteins, are initiated. Trehalose is rapidly broken down to glucose, which enters glycolysis, subsequently giving rise to a glycerol pool. (Osherov & May, 2001; d'Enfert, 1997) In germinating *A. niger* conidia, this occurs during the first 3 hours of germination; after that period conidia are nearly depleted of trehalose. However, this quick decrease is followed by resynthesis; after 6 hours, the level is approximately 50 % of that in dormant conidia (2.5 % vs 5 %), and after 12 hours of incubation, the levels are almost restored (see Figure 6). (**Paper I**)



Figure 6. Trehalose content of wild-type A. niger conidia and during germination. Notice the scale break between 12 and 72 hours.

When swelling of conidia ceases, they proceed to polarised growth (see Figure 7). In the swollen spore, materials and machinery for production of the cell wall and plasma membrane are distributed throughout the cortex; these are now localised to a certain position on the cell wall, and a germ tube emerges. The germ tube continues to grow apically, septa are formed, and eventually the hypha will branch, creating additional directions of polarised growth – a fungal colony is formed (see Figure 4). (Momany, 2002)

In *A. niger* conidia, no morphological changes are observed within the first 3 hours of incubation, although the trehalose contents are nearly depleted during this initial period. Swelling is obvious in the majority of spores after 6 hours, and after 12 hours the germ tubes are typically ten times longer than the remaining conidia. (**Paper I**)



Figure 7. A. niger conidia after 9 hours of germination. The size-bar is 10µm.

5 Food preservation

Preventing the growth of unwanted microorganisms in food has always been a human concern and some of the methods still in use, drying for instance, are very old (Adams & Moss, 2000b).

When preserving food there are two major strategies: inactivation (killing) of the microorganisms, or inhibiting their growth. The latter is by far the most common, and involves changing physical or chemical factors of the food, thereby making it a poor habitat for microbial growth. Examples include lowering the water activity (by drying or adding solutes such as salt or sugar), low temperature storage, addition of preservatives, restriction of available oxygen, raising the level of carbon dioxide (by modified atmosphere packaging) and acidification. (Gould, 1996) In many kinds of foods, these methods are applied in so-called hurdles, where several factors combine to make the food safe. For instance, some fungi are well adapted to growing in cold and dry environments, so while these measures might reduce spoilage by prokaryotes, fungi can still thrive. Sole reliance on cold storage of a sausage might not prevent mould growth, but if it is also dried, salted and the pH is lowered, the shelf life is prolonged. (Adams & Moss, 2000b; Leistner, 2000)

The most widely used method to kill spoilage microorganisms in food is heating, pasteurisation and canning being two examples; certain newer techniques, like electromagnetic irradiation and high-pressure treatment, are also lethal to microbes (Gould, 1996).

To supplement food with a chemical substance that limits, or totally inhibits, microbial growth is an effective means of extending shelf life. Among the most commonly used types of chemical preservatives are naturally occurring weak organic acids such as acetate, propionate, sorbate and benzoate. The function of these acids is pH-dependent and the mechanisms behind this are sometimes referred to as "the weak acid theory":

When the external pH is low (i.e. in acidic food), the acid exists in its undissociated form and is therefore lipophilic. This allows it to pass the microbial membrane. When inside the cell, the higher cytosolic pH leads to dissociation of the acid. The anionic part of the acid is charged and thus becomes trapped in the cell. The accumulation of protons acidifies the cell cytosol leading to stress for the organism. Furthermore, key steps in glycolysis are inhibited, leading to a drop in ATP levels. (Melin *et al.*, 2008; Plumridge *et al.*, 2004; Gould, 1996) In addition to this, weak organic acid preservatives have been shown to inhibit up-take of nutrients, such as amino acids and nucleotides, in microorganisms (Melin *et al.*, 2008; Bauer *et al.*, 2003; Hunter & Segel, 1973).

An ongoing trend is the demand for food that is perceived as more "natural", containing less additives and preservatives. The interest in alternative methods to extend shelf life is therefore great; one aspect of this is that the ancient method of fermentation receives increasing attention. (Schnürer & Magnusson, 2005; Gould, 1996)

Fermentation is a method to preserve as well as refine food by microorganisms. The vast majority of fermented foods are produced by lactic acid bacteria (dairy products, sourdough bread, pickled vegetables etc.) and fungi, both yeasts (beer, wine) and moulds (cheese, tempeh, soy sauce etc.) Early use of such processes was based on empirical knowledge rather than apprehension of the mechanisms behind it. The essential role played by microorganisms in fermentation was discovered when pasteurisation was developed in 1861. Besides improving the sensory qualities of the food, growth of beneficial microbes can prevent spoilage by other microorganisms. The mechanisms behind this include production of acids and antimicrobial compounds (such as bacteriocins and ethanol), as well as competition for nutrients and space. (Dalie *et al.*, 2010; Kabak *et al.*, 2006; Paul Ross *et al.*, 2002)

5.1 Lactic acid bacteria

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) do not constitute a strict taxonomical group. However, they share many features, the most pronounced being the production of lactic acid. Genera include *Lactococcus*, *Lactobacillus*, *Enterococcus*, *Streptococcus*, *Leuconostoc* and *Pediococcus*. (Paul Ross *et al.*, 2002) Species of these genera naturally occur in nutrient rich environments and they are often isolated from various foods, such as dairy products and meat (Schnürer & Magnusson, 2005).

Lactic acid bacteria are strictly fermentative and can be divided into two groups depending on their metabolism; homofermentative and heterofermentative species. The main end product of homofermentative LAB is lactic acid, whereas heterofermentative LAB produce lactic acid as well as other organic acids, carbon dioxide and ethanol. Besides the main end products, many more substances are formed during fermentation, including antimicrobial compounds, flavour compounds, vitamins and anti-oxidants. (Schnürer & Magnusson, 2005; Paul Ross *et al.*, 2002)

In large scale food production today, defined starter cultures are almost always used for fermentation, unlike the more traditional method of "backslopping", whereby a portion of a previous, successful, batch of fermented food is used as inoculum (Leroy & De Vuyst, 2004).

5.1.1 Antifungal properties of lactic acid bacteria

Most research on food preservation by LAB is focused on the antibacterial effects, and the majority of LAB species are known to produce specific socalled bacteriocins. (Paul Ross *et al.*, 2002) However, the use of LAB for biopreservation to control mould growth and mycotoxin production is of growing interest. (Dalie *et al.*, 2010; Schnürer & Magnusson, 2005; Ström *et al.*, 2005; Lavermicocca *et al.*, 2003)

Several LAB metabolites with antifungal properties have been identified, but the mechanisms of inhibition are largely unknown. Besides organic acids, the antifungal metabolites of LAB include: reuterin, a broad spectrum antimicrobial with effect against bacteria, yeasts and moulds; hydrogen peroxide, which is produced in the presence of oxygen and is a potent antimicrobial; hydroxylated fatty acids, that are known for their sensory qualities in food but also display a potent antifungal effect; and phenyllactic acid, which will be discussed in detail below. (Dalie *et al.*, 2010; Schnürer & Magnusson, 2005)

In addition to inhibiting the growth of moulds, LAB have been shown to reduce the levels of mycotoxins by either inhibiting their bio-synthesis, or by binding to and thereby neutralising them. (Dalie *et al.*, 2010; Kabak *et al.*, 2006)

When specifically introducing LAB as bio-protection in foods, choosing strains that produce effective antifungal metabolites could be a way of optimising the effect. (Valerio *et al.*, 2004) So far, most species with proven efficacy against mould belong to the *Lactobacillus* and *Lactococcus* genera, for instance *Lb. plantarum*, *Lb. reuteri* and *Lc. lactis*. (Dalie *et al.*, 2010)

5.1.2 Phenyllactic acid

Phenyllactic acid (PLA, see Figure 8) was first identified as an antifungal metabolite of LAB by Lavermicocca and co-workers (2000) when *L. plantarum* extracts were purified and analysed. PLA inhibits growth of several *Aspergillus*, *Penicillium*, *Eurotium* and *Fusarium* species. It



has been shown that in sourdough bread made Figure 8. Structure of PLA

with a PLA-producing starter culture of *L. plantarum*, growth of *A. niger* and *P. roqueforti* were delayed for up to 7 days; shelf life was significantly longer than in bread made with cultures that did not produce PLA. (Lavermicocca *et al.*, 2003; Lavermicocca *et al.*, 2000) PLA has also been found to be active against moulds (*A. fumigatus* and *P. roqueforti* among others) in grass silage (Ström *et al.*, 2002).

PLA has been isolated from several species of *Lactobacillus* (*L. coryniformis*, *L. sakei*, *L. reuteri*, *L. casei*, *L. fermentum*, *L. plantarum* and *L. acidophilus*, for instance), but also by *Pediococcus pentosaceus* and *Leuconostoc citreum*, among others (Gerez *et al.*, 2013; Schnürer & Magnusson, 2005; Valerio *et al.*, 2004; Ström *et al.*, 2002). When added in pure form, relatively high concentrations (in the mg/ml range) of PLA are required to inhibit moulds. However, in systems where LAB acts as biopreservation and lower concentrations of PLA are produced, this metabolite probably contributes to the antifungal effect in combination with other antifungal substances. (Schnürer & Magnusson, 2005; Ström *et al.*, 2002). Furthermore, it is possible to increase the amount PLA produced by increasing the concentrations of phenylalanine and citrate in culture (Gerez *et al.*, 2013; Valerio *et al.*, 2004).

The functions by which PLA inhibits mould growth are largely unknown. However, PLA is an organic acid and the weak acid theory described above is applicable. This is supported by the fact that the effect of PLA is pHdependent. In a "single-spore assay", where the germination ability of conidia were tested on solid media containing various concentrations of PLA, 60 mM PLA was sufficient to completely inhibit the growth of *A. niger* conidia at pH 2.9 (that is, 60 mM = MIC, minimal inhibitory concentration). However, the same PLA concentration at pH 4.4 did not affect the germination at all compared to a control without PLA. This phenomenon is most probably explained by the fact that at pH 4.4, PLA exists in the dissociated form and is therefore unable to pass the cell membrane. The theory that PLA functions as a weak acid is further supported by the fact that a uridine auxotrophic strain (i.e. a strain that is unable to produce this nucleoside) of *A. niger* was oversensitive

compared to the wild type strain, a phenomenon previously observed for all weak acids with a carboxyl group (Melin *et al.*, 2008). This suggests that the PLA inhibits uptake of nutrients in the same way as has been shown for other weak acids. (**Paper 3**)

In contrast to these findings, comparison with the weak acid preservative benzoic acid showed that PLA possesses an additional mode of function not displayed by other weak acids. At concentrations below the MIC, PLA inhibits radial growth and sporulation of *A. niger*, an effect not seen by benzoic acid. Moreover, unlike benzoic acid, PLA did not reduce the numbers of colonies formed at sub-inhibitory concentrations. These findings indicate that PLA have a unique mode of function, and rather than being fungicidal it specifically inhibits asexual development as well as growth. (**Paper 3**)

6 Stress

'Abiotic stress' imply environmental conditions that are harmful to organisms occupying the ecological niche in question. Examples that affect fungi include restriction of oxygen, adverse temperatures, changed osmolarity, and starvation, among many others. (Miskei *et al.*, 2009; Magan & Aldred, 2007). Thus, many of the measures we take to preserve food could be thought upon as attempts to increase the abiotic stress on food-borne fungi.

Fungal spores are generally more resistant to stress than vegetative cells (Osherov & May, 2001). Unlike growing mycelium, the conidia of Aspergilli are, for instance, protected by a thick cell wall, and contain pigments like melanin (thought to protect against UV-radiation) and high levels of so-called compatible solutes, e.g. trehalose and mannitol, that are known to increase resistance to heat and drought (Krijgsheld *et al.*, 2013). As mentioned in chapter 4.2, dormant conidia are not completely resting structures but several genes are expressed. Furthermore, van Leeuwen and co-workers (2013) have shown that transcripts of many stress protective proteins are more highly expressed in dormant conidia, than after germination.

6.1 Stress response

When subjected to environmental stress, an organism will either die or survive, depending on its innate resistance. In the case where the organism survives the initial stress-state, changes in gene expression may lead to an altered phenotype, allowing continued, adapted, growth. (Smits & Brul, 2005) One example of adaptation is accumulation of trehalose, which has been detected as a stress response in many fungal species including *S. cerevisiae* (Hottiger *et al.*, 1994), *B. cinerea* (Doehlemann *et al.*, 2006), *Rhizopus oryzae* (Uyar *et al.*, 2010), *A. nidulans* (Fillinger *et al.*, 2001) and *A. fumigatus* (Al-Bader *et al.*, 2010). Another example is the existence of environmental stress-response

genes that encode proteins with specific protective functions, and whose expressions are linked to the corresponding situations. Many stress-response proteins have been annotated within the Aspergilli, osmotic-, oxidative- and thermal-stress proteins being the most common. (Miskei *et al.*, 2009)

One putative stress-response protein identified in several *Aspergillus* species is PhiA (Schachtschabel *et al.*, 2012; Glaser *et al.*, 2009; Melin *et al.*, 1999). In *A. nidulans*, the expression of *phiA* is induced by bafilomycin treatment. This is a macrolide antibiotic that inhibits V-ATPases and is produced by several species of the bacterial genus *Streptomyces*. Moreover, *phiA* is essential for asexual development: it encodes for a cell wall protein and is necessary for normal formation of phialides. (Melin *et al.*, 2003; Melin *et al.*, 1999) When conidia of *A. niger* are subjected to the LAB metabolite PLA, growth is reduced and conidiation is inhibited. These alterations of phenotype are followed by a strong up-regulation of *phiA*. PLA and bafilomycin are structurally dissimilar molecules, bafilomycin being considerably more complex, yet they result in up-regulation of the same gene. It therefore seems reasonable to assume that PhiA is a stress-response protein that is produced by fungi as a response to competitive stress from antagonistic bacteria. (**Paper 3**)

The expression of the trehalose metabolism genes, tppA and treB, are not affected when *A. niger* is subjected to PLA. Furthermore, the susceptibility to benzoic acid stress is not affected in deletion mutants of tppB and treB (with lowered and elevated trehalose levels respectively). Taken together, this suggests that trehalose does not play a role in the protection against weak organic acids. (**Papers 1, 2 and 3**)

6.2 Protective ability of trehalose in Aspergilli

As mentioned in chapter 3.3, trehalose functions as a stress protectant in a wide variety of fungi and is effective against stressors such as high and low temperature, oxidative shock and adverse osmolarity.

Among the Aspergilli, trehalose synthesis deletion mutants with considerably lowered or depleted trehalose levels have been created in *A. niger* (**Paper 2**, (Wolschek & Kubicek, 1997), *A. fumigatus* (Al-Bader *et al.*, 2010), and *A. nidulans* (Fillinger *et al.*, 2001), and their stress susceptibility has been evaluated. In addition, the trehalase gene, *treB*, has been shown to be of importance for stress resistance in *A. niger* and *A. nidulans* (d'Enfert *et al.*, 1999), **Paper1**).

Mutants with lowered or depleted trehalose levels were more sensitive to heat stress than wild types in all three species. In the *A. fumigatus* $\Delta tpsA\Delta tpsB$ double mutant, trehalose was undetectable and this mutant showed reduced

conidial viability, as well as reduced growth and conidiation at elevated temperatures (Al-Bader *et al.*, 2010). In *A. nidulans*, the single deletion of *tpsA* was sufficient to completely deplete trehalose, and at elevated temperatures, the deletion strain had an impaired capacity to germinate and form colonies. The survival of $\Delta tpsA$ and wild type germlings after heat shock was, on the other hand, equivalent. (Fillinger *et al.*, 2001) Results from *A. niger* show that the trehalose content does not have to be completely depleted to have a negative effect on thermo-tolerance. An *A. niger* $\Delta tpsA$ mutant contained about half as much trehalose as the wild-type, and mutant conidia were more sensitive to heat shock (note, in these experiments, trehalose was measured in the mycelium, whereas stress tests were performed on dormant conidia) (Wolschek & Kubicek, 1997). Deletion of *A. niger* tpsB rendered a mutant strain in which conidia contained about one third of wild-type trehalose levels, and these were hypersensitive to heat, see Figure 9 (**Paper 2**).



Figure 9. Survival of wild type and *AtppB* conidia after 20-120 min heat stress at 55 °C.

Disruption of the *A. nidulans treB* gene generated a mutant in which trehalose was not degraded during germination. When conidia of this strain (*treB*⁻) were pre-incubated for 2 hours and then subjected to heat shock, the survival rates were significantly higher than in a *treB*⁺ strain. Accordingly, deletion of the A. *niger treB* resulted in a mutant with severely reduced ability to degrade trehalose. In an experimental procedure similar to that in *A. nidulans treB*⁻, where *A. niger* conidia were pre-incubated for 3 hours and then heat shocked, the survival of $\Delta treB$ was significantly higher than the wild type. However, when heat shock was applied directly to dormant conidia, the $\Delta treB$ strain showed significantly lower survival rates than wild type, see Figure 10. (**Paper 1**; d'Enfert *et al.*, 1999)



Figure 10. Survival of wild-type and $\Delta treB$ after 40 min of heat stress. Dormant conidia stressed at 55°C (A, note that $\Delta treB$ observations are nudged to avoid visual overlap), and conidia incubated for 3 hours prior to stress at 50°C (B).

The similarities of these results indicate that within the Aspergilli, trehalose plays an identical role in cellular protection against heat stress. Two experimental procedures have been used to test heat stress in these studies: growth in continuously elevated temperatures; or heat shock of conidia that were then grown in habitual temperatures. The only study that tested both assays was that with *A. nidulans* $\Delta tpsA$. Those results suggested that in *A. nidulans*, trehalose has a role in resistance to continual exposure to sublethal stress, but not in protection against short exposure to lethal stress. In contrast, the results from *treB*⁻ suggested that trehalose can protect *A. nidulans* cells against otherwise lethal stress. (Fillinger *et al.*, 2001; d'Enfert *et al.*, 1999) As only one of the two assays was employed in *A. fumigatus* and *A. niger*, it is difficult to draw any clear conclusions as to what is the true situation within the Aspergilli. It is, however, clear that trehalose can protect cells against heat stress. This is further supported by the results from *A. niger* and *A. nidulans*

42

treB mutants, suggesting that elevated levels of trehalose can protect against heat after the on-set of germination (3 vs 2 hours). On the other hand, the ability to degrade the accumulated trehalose proved to be crucial for stress recovery of dormant conidia of *A. niger*. (Paper 2, (d'Enfert *et al.*, 1999)

In contrast to the relatively similar outcomes previously described, oxidative shock did not give equivalent results in the three species: *A. fumigatus* $\Delta tpsAB$ (depleted of trehalose) was hyper-sensitive to oxidative shock, whereas neither *A. nidulans* $\Delta tpsA$ or *A. niger* $\Delta tpsB$ (depleted and with lowered trehalose content, respectively) showed any difference in survival compared to wild type (**Paper 2**) (Al-Bader *et al.*, 2010; Fillinger *et al.*, 2001). Rather than pointing to actual variations in the protective ability of trehalose among the three species, this likely depends on differences in experimental design. Parameters such as age of conidia, growth media, incubation temperature, and so on varied among the studies, and this naturally impairs comparison of the findings, but are difficult to avoid as different species have different demands.

7 Conclusions and future perspectives

The main findings of the present work were:

- In A. niger, treB is crucial for the ability to degrade trehalose, this ability in turn affects the survival of conidia after heat stress. However, the impact is twofold: dormant conidia of a *treB* deletion mutant are more resistant to heat stress than wild type conidia, whereas the inability to degrade trehalose is unfavourable for survival when incubated conidia (i.e. when dormancy is broken) are heat stressed. This duality indicates that while the raised level of trehalose protects proteins and membranes in dormant conidia, being able to utilise trehalose is important for stress recovery of conidia that have started to germinate. (Paper 1)
- There are six putative trehalose synthesis genes in A. niger, tpsA-C and tppA-C, and in closely related species there are orthologues to most or all of these genes (Paper 2).
- In A. niger, tppA, tppB and tpsA are most significant for functional trehalose synthesis. However, all tps and tpp genes are expressed both in conidia and during germination. (Paper 2)
- The main encoder of trehalose-6-phosphate-phasphatase in *A. niger* is *tppA*, and in addition to its essential role in trehalose bio-synthesis, this gene is also a pre-requisite for asexual development (Paper 2).
- As previously shown in other Aspergillus species, decreased trehalose content of A. niger conidia negatively affects their resistance to heat stress (Paper 2).
- PLA inhibits fungal growth, both through the same mechanism of action as other weak acids, but also by inhibiting asexual reproduction (conidiation). PLA stress triggers strong up-regulation of *phiA*, a gene known to affect phialide development and which is induced by macrolide antibiotics. This suggests that the inhibition of conidiation

likely occurs at the (mis)formation of spore-producing structures, rather than at formation of conidia *per se*. (**Paper 3**)

Since food spoilage is often mediated by air-borne conidia, a "single-spore" assay is a relevant tool when characterising the inhibitory properties of potential anti-fungal compounds. Unlike other assays, this method facilitates evaluation of colony formation and conidiation which are both relevant in food contexts. (Paper 3)

Studying stress in fungi, or any organism, is not entirely easy as several factors and systems influence resistance – it is a complex matter.

In this thesis I have used two different approaches to study stress response and resistance. These can roughly be described as either deleting a gene that is believed to have an important function, applying stress to the deletion mutant and seeing if it was more sensitive than the wild type; or, applying stress to the wild type and screening for gene expressions which differ to that in the untreated control, thereby finding genes which function is relevant for the present stress.

A disadvantage of the first method is that deletion of one gene might trigger the fungus to activate other protective functions. For instance, a strain that is deficient in the trehalose metabolism might compensate this by increased production of other metabolites. In addition to trehalose, mannitol is an example of an important conidial constituent that has been shown to be essential for heat stress survival (Ruijter *et al.*, 2003). It is not unlikely that lack of trehalose can be partly compensated by overproduction of this or other metabolites. It would therefore be interesting to screen the trehalose deletion mutants for a wide variety of metabolites, to investigate how the lack of one affects the production of others.

Besides metabolites with similar function, there can be several different protective systems present with overlapping roles. It would then be easy to draw false conclusions – for instance, that trehalose is not important against oxidative shock, when indeed it might play a role, but not exclusively. One example of such overlapping functions is in the yeast *S. cerevisiae*, where the heat protective function of trehalose can be almost completely compensated by the heat shock protein 104, but in a double mutant of *tps1* and *hsp104*, the heat resistance is low (Elliott *et al.*, 1996).

In the second method, the key question is which genes to examine in detail. In the PLA experiments, results showed an effect on asexual reproduction and we therefore chose to analyse the expression of five genes known to affect sporulation. However, the reality is, of course, that a much greater number of genes are involved. To be able to further elucidate the function of PLA, it

would be worth screening a large set of genes involved in asexual reproduction, possibly by a method with larger output than the one used in Paper 3, for instance by using microarrays.

Besides the broad topic of stress, trehalose metabolism in *A. niger* still poses many questions. We have partially clarified the specific functions of the genes involved in trehalose synthesis, but some things remain to be investigated. For instance: why several genes are still expressed when their function is apparently redundant to trehalose production; how the genes are regulated; and under which environmental conditions they are expressed.

References

- Abarca, M.L., Accensi, F., Cano, J. & Cabañes, F.J. (2004). Taxonomy and significance of black Aspergilli. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek International Journal of General and Molecular Microbiology 86(1), 33-49.
- Adams, M.R. & Moss, M.O. (2000a). Factors Affecting the Growth and Survival of Microorganisms in Food. In: *Food Microbiology*. Second edition. Cambridge: The Royal Society of Chemistry. ISBN 0-85404-611-9.
- Adams, M.R. & Moss, M.O. (2000b). The Microbiology of Food Preservation. In: *Food Microbiology*. Second edition. Cambridge: The Royal Society of Chemistry. ISBN 0-85404-611-9.
- Adams, T.H., Wieser, J.K. & Yu, J.H. (1998). Asexual sporulation in Aspergillus nidulans. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 62(1), 35-54.
- Aguilar-Osorio, G., van Kuyk, P.A., Seiboth, B., Blom, D., Solomon, P.S., Vinck, A., Kindt, F., Wosten, H.A.B. & de Vries, R.P. (2010). Spatial and developmental differentiation of mannitol dehydrogenase and mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase in *Aspergillus niger*. *Eukaryotic Cell*, EC.00363-09.
- Al-Bader, N., Vanier, G., Liu, H., Gravelat, F.N., Urb, M., Hoareau, C.M.Q., Campoli, P., Chabot, J., Filler, S.G. & Sheppard, D.C. (2010). Role of Trehalose Biosynthesis in *Aspergillus fumigatus* Development, Stress Response, and Virulence. *Infection and Immunity* 78(7), 3007-3018.
- Alvarez-Peral, F.J., Zaragoza, O., Pedreno, Y. & Arguelles, J.C. (2002). Protective role of trehalose during severe oxidative stress caused by hydrogen peroxide and the adaptive oxidative stress response in *Candida albicans*. *Microbiology-Sgm* 148, 2599-2606.
- Avonce, N., Mendoza-Vargas, A., Morett, E. & Iturriaga, G. (2006). Insights on the evolution of trehalose biosynthesis. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 6(1), 109.
- Bauer, B.E., Rossington, D., Mollapour, M., Mamnun, Y., Kuchler, K. & Piper, P.W. (2003). Weak organic acid stress inhibits aromatic amino acid uptake by yeast, causing a strong influence of amino acid auxotrophies on the phenotypes of membrane transporter mutants. *European Journal Of Biochemistry* 270(15), 3189-3195.
- Bell, W., Sun, W., Hohmann, S., Wera, S., Reinders, A., De Virgilio, C., Wiemken, A. & Thevelein, J.M. (1998). Composition and Functional Analysis of the Saccharomyces cerevisiae Trehalose Synthase Complex. Journal of Biological Chemistry 273(50), 33311-33319.

- Borgia, P., Miao, Y. & Dodge, C. (1996). The orlA gene from Aspergillus nidulans encodes a trehalose-6-phosphate phosphatase necessary for normal growth and chitin synthesis at elevated temperatures. Molecular Microbiology. 20(6), 1287-96.
- Bos, C.J., Debets, A.J.M., Swart, K., Huybers, A., Kobus, G. & Slakhorst, S.M. (1988). Genetic analysis and the construction of master strains for assignment of genes to six linkage groups in *Aspergillus niger. Current Genetics* 14(5), 437-443.
- Calvo, A.M., Wilson, R.A., Bok, J.W. & Keller, N.P. (2002). Relationship between Secondary Metabolism and Fungal Development. *Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews* 66(3), 447-459.
- Chitarra, G.S. & Dijksterhuis, J. (2007). The germinating spore as a contaminating vehicle. In: *Food Mycology A Multifaceted Approach to Fungi and Food*. pp. 83-100.
- Creppy, E.E. (2002). Update of survey, regulation and toxic effects of mycotoxins in Europe. *Toxicology Letters* 127(1-3), 19-28.
- Crous, P.W., Verkley, G.J.M., Groenewald, J.Z. & Samson, R.A. (Eds.) (2009). *Fungal Biodiversity*. Utrecht: CBS-KNAW Fungal Biodiversity Centre. (CBS Laboratory Manual Series.
- Crowe, J.H., Crowe, L.M., Oliver, A.E., Tsvetkova, N., Wolkers, W. & Tablin, F. (2001). The trehalose myth revisited: Introduction to a symposium on stabilization of cells in the dry state. *Cryobiology* 43(2), 89-105.
- Crowe, J.H., Hoekstra, F.A. & Crowe, L.M. (1992). Anhydrobiosis. *Annual Review of Physiology* 54, 579-599.
- d'Enfert, C. (1997). Fungal Spore Germination: Insights from the Molecular Genetics of Aspergillus nidulansandNeurospora crassa. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* 21(2), 163-172.
- d'Enfert, C., Bonini, B.M., Zapella, P.D.A., Fontaine, T., da Silva, A.M. & Terenzi, H.F. (1999). Neutral trehalases catalyse intracellular trehalose breakdown in the filamentous fungi Aspergillus nidulans and Neurospora crassa. Molecular Microbiology 32(3), 471-483.
- Dagnas, S. & Membre, J.M. (2013). Predicting and preventing mold spoilage of food products. *Journal of Food Protection* 76(3), 538-551.
- Dalie, D., Deschamps, A. & Richard-Forget, F. (2010). Lactic acid bacteria Potential for control of mould growth and mycotoxins: A review. *Food Control* (21), 370-380.
- Doehlemann, G., Berndt, P. & Hahn, M. (2006). Trehalose metabolism is important for heat stress tolerance and spore germination of *Botrytis cinerea*. *Microbiology-Sgm* 152, 2625-2634.
- Elbein, A.D. (1974). The metabolism of α-α-trehalose. Advances in Carbohydrate Chemistry and Biochemistry 30, 227-256.
- Elbein, A.D., Pan, Y.T., Pastuszak, I. & Carroll, D. (2003). New insights on trehalose: a multifunctional molecule. *Glycobiology* 13(4), 17R-27.
- Elliott, B., Haltiwanger, R.S. & Futcher, B. (1996). Synergy Between Trehalose and Hsp104 for Thermotolerance in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Genetics* 144(3), 923-933.
- Fernandez, J. & Wilson, R.A. (2011). The sugar sensor, trehalose-6-phosphate synthase (Tps1), regulates primary and secondary metabolism during infection by the rice blast fungus: Will *Magnaporthe oryzae*'s sweet tooth become its Achilles heel? *Mycology: An International Journal on Fungal Biology* 2(1), 46 - 53.
- Fillinger, S., Chaveroche, M.-K., van Dijck, P., de Vries, R., Ruijter, G., Thevelein, J. & d'Enfert, C. (2001). Trehalose is required for the acquisition of tolerance to a variety of stresses in the filamentous fungus *Aspergillus nidulans*. *Microbiology* 147(7), 1851-1862.

- Filtenborg, O., Frisvad, J.C. & Thrane, U. (1996). Moulds in food spoilage. International Journal of Food Microbiology 33(1), 85-102.
- Frisvad, J.C., Andersen, B. & Samson, R.B. (2007a). Association of moulds to foods. In: Food Mycology A Multifaceted Approach to Fungi and Food. pp. 199-239
- Frisvad, J.C., Thrane, U. & Samson, R.A. (2007b). Mycotoxin producers. In: Food Mycology A Multifaceted Approach to Fungi and Food. pp. 135-160
- Gancedo, C. & Flores, C.-L. (2004). The importance of a functional trehalose biosynthetic pathway for the life of yeasts and fungi. *FEMS Yeast Research* 4(4-5), 351-359.
- Geiser, D.M., Gueidan, C., Miadlikowska, J., Lutzoni, F., Kauff, F., Hofstetter, V., Fraker, E., Schoch, C.L., Tibell, L., Untereiner, W.A. & Aptroot, A. (2006). Eurotiomycetes: Eurotiomycetidae and Chaetothyriomycetidae. *Mycologia* 98(6), 1053-1064.
- Gerez, C.L., Torres, M.J., de Valdez, G.F. & Rollan, G. (2013). Control of spoilage fungi by lactic acid bacteria. *Biological Control* 64(3), 231-237.
- Glaser, A.G., Kirsch, A.I., Zeller, S., Menz, G., Rhyner, C. & Crameri, R. (2009). Molecular and immunological characterization of Asp f 34, a novel major cell wall allergen of *Aspergillus fumigatus*. *Allergy* 64(8), 1144-1151.
- Gould, G.W. (1996). Methods for preservation and extension of shelf life. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 33(1), 51-64.
- Hawksworth, D.L. (2011). Naming *Aspergillus* species: progress towards one name for each species. *Medical Mycology* 49, S70-S76.
- Hoekstra, R.F. (2005). Evolutionary biology: Why sex is good. Nature 434(7033), 571-573.
- Hottiger, T., Virgilio, C., Hall, M., Boller, T. & Wiemken, A. (1994). The role of trehalose synthesis for the acquisition of thermotolerance in yeast. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 219(1-2), 187-193.
- Houbraken, J. & Samson, R.A. (2011). Phylogeny of *Penicillium* and the segregation of Trichocomaceae into three families. *Studies in Mycology* (70), 51 pp.
- Hounsa, C.G., Brandt, E.V., Thevelein, J., Hohmann, S. & Prior, B.A. (1998). Role of trehalose in survival of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* under osmotic stress. *Microbiology-Sgm* 144, 671-680.
- Hunter, D.R. & Segel, I.H. (1973). Effect of weak acids om amino acid transport by *Penicillium chrysogenum*: Evidence for a proton or charge gradient as the driving force. *Journal of Bacteriology* 113(3), 1184-1192.
- Iturriaga, G., Suarez, R. & Nova-Franco, B. (2009). Trehalose Metabolism: From Osmoprotection to Signaling. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 10(9), 3793-3810.
- Jain, N.K. & Roy, I. (2009). Effect of trehalose on protein structure. Protein Science 18(1), 24-36.
- Kabak, B., Dobson, A.D.W. & Var, I. (2006). Strategies to Prevent Mycotoxin Contamination of Food and Animal Feed: A Review. *Critical Reviews in Food Science and Nutrition* 46(8), 593-619.
- Krijgsheld, P., Bleichrodt, R., van Veluw, G.J., Wang, F., Muller, W.H., Dijksterhuis, J. & Wosten, H.A.B. (2013). Development in *Aspergillus. Studies in Mycology* (74), 1-29.
- Lavermicocca, P., Valerio, F., Evidente, A., Lazzaroni, S., Corsetti, A. & Gobbetti, M. (2000). Purification and characterization of novel antifungal compounds from the sourdough *Lactobacillus plantarum* strain 21B. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 66(9), 4084-4090.



- Lavermicocca, P., Valerio, F. & Visconti, A. (2003). Antifungal activity of phenyllactic acid against molds isolated from bakery products. *Applied and Environmental Microbiology* 69(1), 634-640.
- Leistner, L. (2000). Basic aspects of food preservation by hurdle technology. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 55(1–3), 181-186.
- Leroy, F. & De Vuyst, L. (2004). Lactic acid bacteria as functional starter cultures for the food fermentation industry. *Trends in Food Science & Technology* 15(2), 67-78.
- Li, B.Q. & Tian, S.P. (2006). Effects of trehalose on stress tolerance and biocontrol efficacy of *Cryptococcus laurentii. Journal of Applied Microbiology* 100(4), 854-861.
- Lins, R.D., Pereira, C.S. & Hünenberger, P.H. (2004). Trehalose–protein interaction in aqueous solution. Proteins: Structure, Function, and Bioinformatics 55(1), 177-186.
- Lutzoni, F., Kauff, F., Cox, C.J., McLaughlin, D., Celio, G., Dentinger, B., Padamsee, M., Hibbett, D., James, T.Y., Baloch, E., Grube, M., Reeb, V., Hofstetter, V., Schoch, C., Arnold, A.E., Miadlikowska, J., Spatafora, J., Johnson, D., Hambleton, S., Crockett, M., Shoemaker, R., Sung, G.H., Lucking, R., Lumbsch, T., O'Donnell, K., Binder, M., Diederich, P., Ertz, D., Gueidan, C., Hansen, K., Harris, R.C., Hosaka, K., Lim, Y.W., Matheny, B., Nishida, H., Pfister, D., Rogers, J., Rossman, A., Schmitt, I., Sipman, H., Stone, J., Sugiyama, J., Yahr, R. & Vilgalys, R. (2004). Assembling the fungal tree of life: Progress, classification and evolution of subcellular traits. *American Journal of Botany* 91(10), 1446-1480.
- Magan, N. & Aldred, D. (2007). Why do fungi produce mycotoxins? In: Food Mycology A Multifaceted Approach to Fungi and Food. pp. 121-133.
- Martinez-Esparza, M., Martinez-Vicente, E., Gonzalez-Parraga, P., Ros, J.M., Garcia-Penarrubia, P. & Arguelles, J.C. (2009). Role of trehalose-6P phosphatase (TPS2) in stress tolerance and resistance to macrophage killing in *Candida albicans. International Journal of Medical Microbiology* 299(6), 453-464.
- Medina, E.M., Jones, G.W. & Fitzpatrick, D.A. (2011). Reconstructing the Fungal Tree of Life Using Phylogenomics and a Preliminary Investigation of the Distribution of Yeast Prion-Like Proteins in the Fungal Kingdom. *Journal of Molecular Evolution* 73(3-4), 116-133.
- Melin, P., Schnurer, J. & Wagner, E.G.H. (2003). Characterization of *phiA*, a gene essential for phialide development in *Aspergillus nidulans*. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* 40(3), 234-241.
- Melin, P., Schnürer, J. & Wagner, E.G.H. (1999). Changes in Aspergillus nidulans gene expression induced by bafilomycin, a Streptomyces-produced antibiotic. Microbiology 145(5), 1115-1122.
- Melin, P., Stratford, M., Plumiridge, A. & Archer, D.B. (2008). Auxotrophy for undine increases the sensitivity of Aspergillus niger to weak-acid preservatives. *Microbiology* 154, 1251-1257.
- Miskei, M., Karanyi, Z. & Pocsi, I. (2009). Annotation of stress-response proteins in the aspergilli. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* 46, S105-S120.
- Momany, M. (2002). Polarity in filamentous fungi: establishment, maintenance and new axes. Current Opinion in Microbiology 5(6), 580-585.
- Ni, M. & Yu, J.-H. (2007). A Novel Regulator Couples Sporogenesis and Trehalose Biogenesis in Aspergillus nidulans. PLoS ONE 2(10), e970.
- Osherov, N. & May, G.S. (2001). The molecular mechanisms of conidial germination. FEMS Microbiology Letters 199(2), 153-160.
- Paul Ross, R., Morgan, S. & Hill, C. (2002). Preservation and fermentation: past, present and future. *International Journal of Food Microbiology* 79(1–2), 3-16.

- Pel, H.J., de Winde, J.H., Archer, D.B., Dyer, P.S., Hofmann, G., Schaap, P.J., Turner, G., de Vries, R.P., Albang, R., Albermann, K., Andersen, M.R., Bendtsen, J.D., Benen, J.A.E., van den Berg, M., Breestraat, S., Caddick, M.X., Contreras, R., Cornell, M., Coutinho, P.M., Danchin, E.G.J., Debets, A.J.M., Dekker, P., van Dijck, P.W.M., van Dijk, A., Dijkhuizen, L., Driessen, A.J.M., d'Enfert, C., Geysens, S., Goosen, C., Groot, G.S.P., de Groot, P.W.J., Guillemette, T., Henrissat, B., Herweijer, M., van den Hombergh, J., van den Hondel, C., van der Heijden, R., van der Kaaij, R.M., Klis, F.M., Kools, H.J., Kubicek, C.P., van Kuyk, P.A., Lauber, J., Lu, X., van der Maarel, M., Meulenberg, R., Menke, H., Mortimer, M.A., Nielsen, J., Oliver, S.G., Olsthoorn, M., Pal, K., van Peij, N., Ram, A.F.J., Rinas, U., Roubos, J.A., Sagt, C.M.J., Schmoll, M., Sun, J.B., Ussery, D., Varga, J., Vervecken, W., de Vondervoort, P., Wedler, H., Wosten, H.A.B., Zeng, A.P., van Ooyen, A.J.J., Visser, J. & Stam, H. (2007). Genome sequencing and analysis of the versatile cell factory *Aspergillus niger* CBS 513.88. *Nature Biotechnology* 25(2), 221-231.
- Pereira, C.S., Lins, R.D., Chandrasekhar, I., Freitas, L.C.G. & Hünenberger, P.H. (2004). Interaction of the Disaccharide Trehalose with a Phospholipid Bilayer: A Molecular Dynamics Study. *Biophysical Journal* 86(4), 2273-2285.
- Pitt, J.I. & Hocking, A.D. (2009). Fungi and Food Spoilage, Introduction. In: Fungi and Food Spoilage, Third Edition. pp. 1-501 Springer. ISBN 978-0-387-92206-5(H).
- Plumridge, A., Hesse, S.J.A., Watson, A.J., Lowe, K.C., Stratford, M. & Archer, D.B. (2004). The Weak Acid Preservative Sorbic Acid Inhibits Conidial Germination and Mycelial Growth of *Aspergillus niger* through Intracellular Acidification. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 70(6), 3506-3511.
- Puttikamonkul, S., Willger, S.D., Grahl, N., Perfect, J.R., Movahed, N., Bothner, B., Park, S., Paderu, P., Perlin, D.S. & Cramer Jr, R.A. (2010). Trehalose 6-phosphate phosphatase is required for cell wall integrity and fungal virulence but not trehalose biosynthesis in the human fungal pathogen *Aspergillus fumigatus*. *Molecular Microbiology* 77(4), 891-911.
- Reinders, A., Bürckert, N., Hohmann, S., Thevelein, J.M., Boller, T., Wiemken, A. & De Virgilio, C. (1997). Structural analysis of the subunits of the trehalose-6-phosphate synthase/phosphatase complex in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and their function during heat shock. *Molecular Microbiology* 24(4), 687-696.
- Roncal, T. & Ugalde, U. (2003). Conidiation induction in *Penicillium. Research in Microbiology* 154(8), 539-546.
- Ruijter, G.J.G., Bax, M., Patel, H., Flitter, S.J., van de Vondervoort, P.J.I., de Vries, R.P., vanKuyk, P.A. & Visser, J. (2003). Mannitol is required for stress tolerance in *Aspergillus niger* conidiospores. *Eukaryotic Cell* 2(4), 690-698.
- Samson, R.A., Hoekstra, E.S. & Frisvad, J.C. (2004). *Introduction to food and airborne fungi*. 7th. ed. Utrecht: CBS. ISBN 90-70351-52-8.
- Schachtschabel, D., Arentshorst, M., Lagendijk, E.L. & Ram, A.F.J. (2012). Vacuolar H+-ATPase plays a key role in cell wall biosynthesis of *Aspergillus niger*. *Fungal Genetics and Biology* 49(4), 284-293.
- Schnürer, J. & Magnusson, J. (2005). Antifungal lactic acid bacteria as biopreservatives. Trends in Food Science & Technology 16(1-3), 70-78.
- Schoch, C.L., Sung, G.H., Lopez-Giraldez, F., Townsend, J.P., Miadlikowska, J., Hofstetter, V., Robbertse, B., Matheny, P.B., Kauff, F., Wang, Z., Gueidan, C., Andrie, R.M., Trippe, K., Ciufetti, L.M., Wynns, A., Fraker, E., Hodkinson, B.P., Bonito, G., Groenewald, J.Z.,

Arzanlou, M., de Hoog, G.S., Crous, P.W., Hewitt, D., Pfister, D.H., Peterson, K.,
Gryzenhout, M., Wingfield, M.J., Aptroot, A., Suh, S.O., Blackwell, M., Hillis, D.M.,
Griffith, G.W., Castlebury, L.A., Rossman, A.Y., Lumbsch, H.T., Lucking, R., Budel, B.,
Rauhut, A., Diederich, P., Ertz, D., Geiser, D.M., Hosaka, K., Inderbitzin, P., Kohlmeyer, J.,
Volkmann-Kohlmeyer, B., Mostert, L., O'Donnell, K., Sipman, H., Rogers, J.D., Shoemaker,
R.A., Sugiyama, J., Summerbell, R.C., Untereiner, W., Johnston, P.R., Stenroos, S.,
Zuccaro, A., Dyer, P.S., Crittenden, P.D., Cole, M.S., Hansen, K., Trappe, J.M., Yahr, R.,
Lutzoni, F. & Spatafora, J.W. (2009). The Ascomycota Tree of Life: A Phylum-wide
Phylogeny Clarifies the Origin and Evolution of Fundamental Reproductive and Ecological
Traits. *Systematic Biology* 58(2), 224-239.

- Schuster, Schuster, E., Dunn, C., Dunn-Coleman, N., Frisvad, Frisvad, J., van, D. & Dijck, P.v. (2002). On the safety of Aspergillus niger – a review. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 59(4), 426-435.
- Shinohara, M.L., Correa, A., Bell-Pedersen, D., Dunlap, J.C. & Loros, J.J. (2002). Neurospora Clock-Controlled Gene 9 (ccg-9) Encodes Trehalose Synthase: Circadian Regulation of Stress Responses and Development. *Eukaryotic Cell* 1(1), 33-43.
- Smits, G.J. & Brul, S. (2005). Stress tolerance in fungi to kill a spoilage yeast. Current Opinion in Biotechnology 16(2), 225-230.
- Ström, K., Schnürer, J. & Melin, P. (2005). Co-cultivation of antifungal Lactobacillus plantarum MiLAB 393 and Aspergillus nidulans, evaluation of effects on fungal growth and protein expression. FEMS Microbiology Letters 246(1), 119-124.
- Ström, K., Sjögren, J., Broberg, A. & Schnürer, J. (2002). Lactobacillus plantarum MiLAB 393 Produces the Antifungal Cyclic Dipeptides Cyclo(l-Phe-l-Pro) and Cyclo(l-Phe-trans-4-OHl-Pro) and 3-Phenyllactic Acid. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 68(9), 4322-4327.
- Taylor, J.W., Spatafora, J., O'Donnell, K., Lutzoni, F.O., James, T., Hibbett, D.S., Geiser, D., Bruns, T.D. & Blackwell, M. (2004). The fungi. In: Cracraft, J., et al. (Eds.) Assembling the Tree of Life. pp. 171-194. New York: Oxford Univ Press. ISBN 0-19-517234-5.
- Ugalde, U. & Corrochano, L.M. (2007). Spore formation in food-relevant fungi. In: *Food Mycology A Multifaceted Approach to Fungi and Food*. pp. 53-63.
- Uyar, E.O., Hamamci, H. & Turkel, S. (2010). Effect of different stresses on trehalose levels in *Rhizopus oryzae. Journal of Basic Microbiology* 50(4), 368-372.
- Valerio, F., Lavermicocca, P., Pascale, M. & Visconti, A. (2004). Production of phenyllactic acid by lactic acid bacteria: an approach to the selection of strains contributing to food quality and preservation. *FEMS Microbiology Letters* 233(2), 289-295.
- van Leeuwen, M.R., Krijgsheld, P., Bleichrodt, R., Menke, H., Stam, H., Stark, J., Wosten, H.A.B. & Dijksterhuis, J. (2013). Germination of conidia of *Aspergillus niger* is accompanied by major changes in RNA profiles. Studies in Mycology (74), 59-70.
- Wiemken, A. (1990). Trehalose in yeast, stress protectant rather than reserve carbohydrate. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek International Journal of General and Molecular Microbiology 58(3), 209-217.
- Wilson, R.A., Jenkinson, J.M., Gibson, R.P., Littlechild, J.A., Wang, Z.-Y. & Talbot, N.J. (2007). *Tps1* regulates the pentose phosphate pathway, nitrogen metabolism and fungal virulence. *EMBO* J 26(15), 3673-3685.
- Wolschek, M. & Kubicek, C. (1997). The Filamentous Fungus Aspergillus niger Contains Two
 "Differentially Regulated" Trehalose-6-phosphate Synthase-encoding Genes, tpsA and tpsB.
 J. Biol. Chem. 272(5), 2729-2735.

Acknowledgements

Petter, min handledare mitt stort H. Stort tack för din förmåga att se möjligheter och lyfta fram det positiva då jag tycker att ingenting fungerar, ditt imponerande detaljminne, din förmåga att strukturera röriga manus och för att du alltid är tillgänglig och tar dig tid. Du har lärt mig massor, tack för att du gav mig den här chansen!

Su-lin, thank you for agreeing to be my co-supervisor when I was dumped in your lap O I appreciate that you are so generous with your broad mycology knowledge, all the excellent proofreading and valuable comments on texts you have helped me with, the nice travel companion and last but not least, the milk, which have been of significant importance these last month.

Richard and **Jan**, thank you for the warm welcome you gave me in Utrecht, the opportunity to work in your nice lab and the help with taking beautiful SEM-photos of my moulds.

Jag skulle vilja tacka alla de som under min grundutbildning bidrog till att väcka mitt intresse för det något udda ämnet mögel: Johan S, Inger, Ulrika, Jennifer och Xinmei.

Tack alla **kollegor** som hjälper till att göra mikrobiologen till en så trevlig arbetsplats. Särskilt tack för all praktisk och administrativ hjälp genom åren, **Anki, Susanne, Sture, Ingemar** (speciellt tack för de fina indunstarna du byggde åt mig!) och **Stina**! Tack **Elisabet** för din GC-expertis, **Maria H** för alla frågor du svarat på och **Bengt** för ditt stöd och uppmuntrande kommentarer det här sista året. Stort tack också till alla som bidragit till arbetsglädjen på mikro genom trevliga lunch- och fikapauser, skrivrums-prat, bupkvällar och fester som ibland handlat om forskning men oftare om annat, Johanna, Kajsa, Greta, Karin Ö, Maria W, Salome, Leticia, Lotta L, Niclas, Mikael, Mattias, Ivgeniia, Anton, Harald, Joakim, Daniel, Joalanta, Ella, Cissi, Anna-Ida, Helena, Olga, Henrik T, Klara, Karin E, Emma och Per m.fl.

Alla mina kära **vänner** utanför mikrobiologen, tack för era heja-rop och för att ni inte glömt mig trots att jag har varit väldigt osynlig den senaste tiden [©] Särskilt tack till min allra äldsta och bästa vän **JH**, du är fantastisk!, och **Matilda**, även om du bor väldigt långt bort nu känns du nära!

Mamma och **pappa**, sedan jag själv fick barn och började fundera på det här med att vara förälder har jag mer och mer insett att ni gjort ett väldigt bra jobb! Ni har alltid fått mig att känna mig trygg och älskad, ställt upp när jag har behövt det, gett mig frihet och mest av allt önskat att jag ska vara lycklig. Jag älskar er för det! **Pär** och **Anders** med familjer, även om vi inte ses så ofta är jag väldigt glad att ni finns i mitt liv. Och jag hoppas att vi kommer ses mera nu!

Estrid, mitt hjärtas fröjd och glädje. Att världens mest underbara barn kom till just oss är svårt att förstå. Varje ny dag med dig och varje ny sak du lär är fantastisk och jag är så glad att jag får dela det med dig. Nu ser jag ser fram mot att dela äventyret ett nytt syskon kommer innebära!

Viktor, mitt livs kärlek. Tack för allt du är, som jag inte är. Du gör mitt liv oändligt mycket gladare och ganska mycket mindre oroligt. Tack för all mat du har handlat och lagat, alla lämningar och hämtningar på förskolan, alla tv-serier och framförallt alla kramar. Jag hade aldrig klarat det utan dig!